STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

Plaintiff-Appellant

-vs-

ARTHUR LAROME JEMISON

Defendant-Appellee.

Supreme Court No. 157812

Court of Appeals No. 334024

Lower Court No. 15-10216-01

WAYNE COUNTY PROSECUTOR
Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellee

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Defendant-Appellant's Supplemental Brief

(Oral Argument Requested)

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE

BY: **Kristin E. LaVoy (P71145)**
Assistant Defender
3300 Penobscot Building
645 Griswold
Detroit, Michigan 48226
(313) 256-9833

Statement of Question Presented

- I. Was Mr. Jemison denied his confrontation rights when the trial court allowed the prosecution to call a DNA expert to testify at trial by video over objection when the only reason for the “virtual” testimony was cost considerations? Is the prosecutor unable to show that this preserved constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

Court of Appeals answers, "No".

Arthur Larome Jemison answers, "Yes".

Summary of Argument

Allowing an expert witness to testify by video over objection violated Mr. Jemison's constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him. The right of face-to-face confrontation is a fundamental part of the right of confrontation. Allowing only "virtual confrontation" was contrary to MCR 6.006(C) and did not satisfy the requirements of either the Michigan or United States' Constitutions.

While the Court of Appeals agreed the trial court erred under MCR 6.006(C), the Court of Appeals wrongly found no confrontation violation relying on *Maryland v Craig*, 497 US 836 (1990). The Court of Appeals held that cost and convenience were important state interests justifying virtual confrontation. This Court cannot, and should not, adopt such a rule. This Court should reverse and find that use of the two-way video testimony was in error and that *Craig* was wrongly applied.

First, the survival of *Craig* is in question after *Crawford v Washington*, 541 US 36 (2004). Secondly, *Craig* should be read narrowly to apply only where a child would suffer trauma if forced to testify against a defendant face-to-face. Finally, even if *Craig* is read more broadly, "virtual confrontation" should only be allowed when there is a *legitimate* state interest in using such a procedure. Cost and convenience does not rise to that level.

This was preserved constitutional error and the prosecutor cannot show that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This case centered around the DNA evidence, the only evidence identifying Mr. Jemison as the perpetrator in the

case. Without the expert's testimony about the DNA, the prosecution would not have been able to prove Mr. Jemison was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

Statement of Facts

In 1996, Talisha Dowe¹ reported to the police that she had been raped. 402a, 522a. A rape kit was taken but not tested for almost 20 years. 403-404a, 605a. Based on the results of the DNA test, Arthur Jemison was prosecuted for first-degree sexual conduct². Ms. Dowe knew Mr. Jemison and told the police she did not think he was the assailant. 738a. At trial, the defense argued that the DNA was from consensual sex; the jury obviously disagreed. 325a, 850a.

A. Ms. Dowe testified that she was assaulted by an unknown man in 1996.

Ms. Dowe was working as an exotic dancer at an after-hours motorcycle club in 1996. 372-373a. One night in September, she left the club to get breakfast with a man she had met that night named Delano. 374a, 376a. They decided to skip breakfast and have sex at his cousin's house instead. 377a. Delano used a condom. 378a.

After they had sex, Delano parked his car in front of a house for thirty to forty minutes, leaving Ms. Dowe in the car with the engine running. 380a. Delano returned, moved the car down a few houses into an alley, and then left again. 381a.

An unidentified man came out of the alley and jumped inside of the car. 384a. He pointed a gun at Ms. Dowe and demanded money from her. 385-386a. He drove the car to the next street and then pulled the car over. 387a. At trial, Ms. Dowe

¹ Talisha Dowe got married sometime before the trial and changed her name from her maiden name of Talisha Sams. 361a.

² MCL 750.520B

stated the assailant forced her to perform fellatio at gunpoint and then had vaginal sex with her. 387-388a. The man took Ms. Dowe's jewelry and money; Ms. Dowe got out of the car, and the man drove Delano's car away. 393-394a.

B. Ms. Dowe went to her friend's house, then home, and later decided to call the police.

Ms. Dowe walked to her friend Ebony's house. 396a. Ms. Dowe did not call 911 but told Ebony and her friends that she had been raped. 396-397a. The women did not believe Ms. Dowe, which led to a fight and Ms. Dowe getting a black eye. 397a.

Ms. Dowe went home to her grandmother's house. 398a. Ms. Dowe's grandmother told her to rinse out her mouth with peroxide and to take a shower. 399a. Ms. Dowe called her sister and told her what happened. 400a. Ms. Dowe's sister came over and convinced Ms. Dowe to tell the police. 401a.

Ms. Dowe made a police report later that day. 402a. In her statement, Ms. Dowe made no mention of being forced to perform fellatio at gunpoint. 652a. She made no mention of the consensual sex with Delano that evening. 439-441a. Ms. Dowe also told the police she had gone right home after the assault and never mentioned going to her friend's house or getting in a fight there. 652a. She had told police that her black eye was from the assailant striking her with a gun, which was not true. 407a.

After making the report, Ms. Dowe went to Detroit Receiving Hospital, where someone swabbed her mouth and vagina for a rape kit. 403-404a. The attending physician could not remember if he had taken the swabs or if a nurse had done it.

359a. Ms. Dowe told the doctors that the last time she had sex before this was in June, not mentioning the sex she had with Delano that evening. 404-405a.

Ms. Dowe never went back to her job at the motorcycle club for fear of being accused of stealing Delano's car. 467-468a.

C. Nearly 20 years later, Ms. Dowe's rape kit was ultimately tested.

At trial, there were many questions about chain of custody with regards to the rape kit. The doctor from the hospital testified that he could not say for certain that he was the one that actually collected the swabs for the rape kit. 359a. The property control officer could only testify as to the standard procedures of the department, and not his experience of checking this particular rape kit into Property Control. 479a. Officers testified that the rape kit sat for three days before being retrieved by the police department and taken into storage, where it apparently sat until 2015. 484-485a.

In 2015, the Michigan State Police (MSP) assisted Detroit with testing back logged rape kits. 599a-600a. MSP sent the kits out to private laboratories. 600a. One such private lab, Sorenson Laboratory, tested Ms. Dowe's rape kit. 606a, 616a-617a. The technical and administrative reviews of the Sorenson data were outsourced to yet another laboratory at Marshall University. 607a.

D. The DNA analyst from Sorenson Laboratory testified by video over objection.

Derek Cutler, the DNA analyst from Sorenson Laboratory, tested the rape kit in question and testified by video at trial. 707a, 83-95a. Before trial, counsel objected to Mr. Cutler testifying by video. 111a. He argued that Mr. Jemison "has a

right to have all of his witnesses appear in court.” 111a. Judge Antonio Viviano, who presided at the motion hearing, overruled his objection. 102a. He ruled that because it was an expert witness, “where all emotions are gone,” his testimony would be admissible by video. 102a.

Counsel later renewed his objection at trial. 700a. The trial judge stated that he would not have allowed the witness to testify by video without the defense’s consent, but that because Judge Viviano had already ruled on this issue, he would not overrule him. 704-705a.

As Mr. Cutler, began to testify, it became clear that he had not actually seen the rape kit. 718a. Nevertheless, Mr. Cutler testified that he had looked at another analyst’s notes and the DNA data and was offering his conclusions. 708a, 721a, 729a.

Mr. Cutler concluded that there was a minimum of two contributors obtained, a major profile matching Ms. Dowe, and a minor contributor that was inconclusive. 722-723a. The sperm fraction was also a mixture of DNA profiles from at least two contributors. 723a. A “major DNA profile” was attributable to “unknown male number one,” the first male profile that they obtained for the case. 723a. The second DNA profile was at such a low level that it was not suitable for comparison. 723a. Mr. Cutler testified that if a condom had not been used one would expect to see sperm cells present, and if a condom had been used, there would only be a “low amount.” 726a.

E. An agent of MSP testified about the report from Sorenson and Marshall and gave her opinion that the DNA profiles were the same within a reasonable degree of scientific certainty.

MSP agent, Catherine Maggert, reviewed the data and the analysis done by Sorenson and Marshall University. 607-608a. Ms. Maggert testified about the findings of Sorenson lab and testified that, according to the report from Sorenson, authored by Mr. Cutler, there was a mixture of DNA with at least two contributors. 614a. There was a major donor attributable to an unknown male and suitable for comparison and a second minor donor, not Ms. Dowe, which was insufficient for testing. 614a, 640a.

Ms. Maggert testified that another analyst had taken a swab of Mr. Jemison's cheek and generated a DNA profile for Mr. Jemison. 624a. Ms. Maggert put the DNA profiles from the rape kit into the Combined DNA Index System (CODIS) and testified that, according to another agent, the major sample "hit" a profile "associated" with Mr. Jemison. 615a, 618a.

Ms. Maggert compared Mr. Jemison's DNA profile with the DNA profile of the major donor generated by Mr. Cutler and Sorenson Laboratory, and concluded that "to a reasonable degree of scientific certainty that the DNA from the major donor... and from Arthur Jemison are from the same individual."³ 630a, 634a.

³ See *People v Urban*, __ Mich __; __ NW 2d __ (2019) (Vacating the Court of Appeals' opinion which indicated that the language "it can be concluded to a reasonable degree of scientific certainty that the DNA profile... is from the same individual" met the requirement of *People v Coy*, 243 Mich App 283 (2000). Such a phrase "is a legally created term of art that is unused by scientists outside of courtrooms." *Urban*, citing Kaye, *The Double Helix and the Law of Evidence* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2010), p. 82.

F. Ms. Dowe was shown a lineup containing Mr. Jemison's photograph. Ms. Dowe did not identify Mr. Jemison as her attacker.

In 2015, Detective Mike Sabo showed Ms. Dowe a photographic array which included Mr. Jemison's picture. 417a. Ms. Dowe looked at the photographs and did not identify anyone in lineup as being her assailant. 417a. After Ms. Dowe did not choose anyone from the lineup, Detective Sabo showed her a single picture of Mr. Jemison and asked her if she knew who he was. 418a. Ms. Dowe told the detective, "oh, yeah, that's Artie." 738a. Detective Sabo then asked Ms. Dowe if she knew Mr. Jemison, why she had not identified him in the photo array. 738a Ms. Dowe told the detective that she did not think he could have been her assailant. 738a.

Ms. Dowe had met Mr. Jemison about four years after the night in question, in 2000. 422a. Ms. Dowe's sister was dating Mr. Jemison's brother. 422-423a. Ms. Dowe went out with Mr. Jemison and they had consensual sex, a fact that was excluded from the jury due to the prosecution's motion to preclude the evidence under MCL 750.520(j). 59a. Ms. Dowe had not recognized Mr. Jemison as being the man that had raped her then either. 424a.

G. Mr. Jemison was convicted of one count of criminal sexual conduct.

After two days of deliberation, the jury acquitted Mr. Jemison of one count of first-degree criminal sexual conduct for the alleged oral sex and convicted him of one count of first-degree criminal sexual conduct for the vaginal sex. 850a. Mr. Jemison was sentenced to 22 to 40 years in prison. 885a.

- I. **Mr. Jemison was denied his confrontation rights when the trial court allowed the prosecution to call a DNA expert to testify at trial by video over objection when the only reason for the “virtual” testimony was cost considerations. The prosecutor cannot show that this preserved constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.**

Standard of Review and Issue Preservation

A violation of the Confrontation Clause is a constitutional question that is reviewed *de novo*. *People v Fackelman*, 489 Mich 515 (2011).

This issue was preserved by trial counsel at a pretrial hearing and renewed again at trial. 111a. 700a-705a. It was raised and addressed by the Court of Appeals. Preserved constitutional error requires this Court to reverse unless the prosecution proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. *People v Carines*, 460 Mich 750, 774 (1999).

Argument

The trial court violated Mr. Jemison’s right to confront the witnesses against him by allowing the prosecution’s expert to testify by video. The Court of Appeals erred in finding no violation of the Confrontation Clause. The court wrongly relied upon, and wrongly applied, *Maryland v Craig*, 497 US 836 (1990). The error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and reversal is required.

- A. **Mr. Jemison was denied the right to a face-to-face meeting, a fundamental part of the right of confrontation.**

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right of confrontation and cross-examination as fundamental requirements of a fair criminal trial. US Const, Am VI; *Crawford v Washington*, 541 US 36 (2004); *Sheppard v Maxwell*, 384 US 333, 351 (1966). The Michigan

Constitution provides a similar protection to criminal defendants. Const 1963, Art 1, § 20; *Fackelman*, 489 Mich 515.

“[T]he Confrontation Clause guarantees the defendant a face-to-face meeting with witnesses.” *Coy v Iowa*, 487 US 1012, 1016. (1988). The United States Supreme Court in *Maryland v Craig*, noted that while this right is not absolute, it may not be “easily dispensed with.” *Craig*, 497 US at 850. It may only be infringed upon when “necessary to further an important public policy and only where the reliability of the testimony is otherwise assured.” *Craig*, 497 US at 850.

In *Craig*, the United States Supreme Court allowed a limitation on the face-to-face aspect of confrontation under a narrow set of circumstances. The Supreme Court upheld, over a defendant's Sixth Amendment challenge, a Maryland rule of criminal procedure that allowed child victims of abuse to testify by one-way closed circuit television from outside the courtroom. *Craig*, 497 US at 858.

The Court held that a defendant's right to face-to-face confrontation may be outweighed by the state's interest in “protecting child witnesses from the trauma of testifying.” *Craig*, 497 US at 855. The Court elaborated that:

[t]he requisite finding of necessity must of course be a case-specific one: The trial court must hear evidence and determine whether use of the one-way closed circuit television procedure is necessary to protect the welfare of the particular child witness who seeks to testify... The trial court must also find that the child witness would be traumatized, not by the courtroom generally, but by the presence of the defendant. *Craig*, 497 US at 855.

B. The vitality of *Craig* is in doubt in light of the Supreme Court’s decision in *Crawford*.

The Court of Appeals cited to, and relied upon, the test set out in *Craig* in denying Mr. Jemison relief. *People v Jemison*, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued April 12, 2018 (Docket No. 334024), p 5. 893a.

However, as noted in the Amicus’ Brief, and by the Ninth Circuit, “the vitality of *Craig* itself is questionable in light of the Supreme Court’s later decision in *Crawford*.” *United States v Carter*, 907 F3d 1199, 1206 (CA 9, 2018).

The Supreme Court in *Craig* relied heavily on *Ohio v Roberts*, 448 US 56 (1980), a decision abrogated by *Crawford*. See *Craig*, 497 US at 847-850; *Crawford*, 541 US at 54. The Court in *Crawford* concluded that the Sixth Amendment prohibits admission of testimonial statements by a non-testifying witness, unless the witness is “unavailable to testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination.” *Crawford*, 541 US at 51. The Court found a Confrontation Clause violation even in the face of “judicial determination[s] of reliability.” *Crawford*, 541 at 54.

While *Crawford* does not overturn *Craig*, *Crawford* stands in “marked contrast” in several respects, and subsequent cases have raised doubts about *Craig* in light of *Crawford*. *United States v Cox*, 871 F3d 479, 492–95 (CA 6, 2017) (Sutton, J., concurring), cert. denied, — US —, 138 S Ct 754 (2018). Statements in *Crawford* such as: “[t]he text of the Sixth Amendment does not suggest any open-ended exceptions from the confrontation requirement to be developed by the courts” and “[i]t is not enough to point out that most of the usual safeguards of the

adversary process attend the statement, when the single safeguard missing is the one that the Confrontation Clause demands” seem to undermine the fundamental holding in *Craig*. See *Crawford*, 541 US at 54, 65. Indeed, it seems likely the United Supreme Court will soon be faced with having to decide between overruling *Craig*, in light of *Crawford*, and dismissing as dicta these sorts of explanatory phrases in *Crawford*. See Wagner, *The End of the "Virtually Constitutional"?: The Confrontation Right and Crawford v Washington as a Prelude to Reversal of Maryland*, 19 Regent UL Rev 469, 474 (2007).

C. There was no legitimate state interest which justified the court depriving Mr. Jemison of his right of confrontation.

Even though the vitality of *Craig* may be in doubt, it remains controlling and so an analysis under *Craig* is still appropriate. Reversal is warranted under *Craig*.

First, *Craig* should be narrowly construed. *Craig* analyzed a Maryland statute which was specifically intended to protect the well-being of children. *Craig*, 497 US at 854. The Supreme Court’s analysis centered around the state interest in protecting children against suffering trauma from testifying. *Id.* This Court should read *Craig* narrowly as only allowing for limitation on confrontation rights in the context of children suffering from trauma if they are forced to testify face-to-face against a defendant, particularly given *Craig*’s tenuous analysis post-*Crawford*.

Even reading *Craig* as applying outside of this context, reversal is still warranted because there was no legitimate state interest which justified the deprivation of Mr. Jemison’s confrontation rights. *Craig* stands most broadly for the proposition that a limitation on face-to-face confrontation, “where necessary to

further an important state interest, does not impinge upon... the Confrontation Clause.” *Craig*, 497 US at 851. Cost or convenience is not a sufficient state interest for use of video testimony, and as that was the only state interest identified here, the procedure was not constitutionally permissible.

Under *Craig*, and as acknowledged by the Court of Appeals below, there are four components of confrontation: “(1) a face-to-face-meeting of the defendant and the witnesses against him at trial; (2) the witnesses should be competent to testify and their testimony is to be given under oath or affirmation, thereby impressing upon them the seriousness of the matter; (3) the witnesses are subject to cross-examination; and (4) the trier of fact is afforded the opportunity to observe the witnesses’ demeanor.” *Jemison*, unpub op at 5, citing *People v Pesquera*, 244 Mich App 305, 309 (2001). 893a; see *Craig*, 497 US at 846; see also *California v Green*, 399 US 149, 162 (1937).

Even though Mr. Jemison was denied a face-to-face meeting, the Court of Appeals found that because the trial court had “met three of the Confrontation Clause criteria... defendant’s right to confrontation was not violated.” *Jemison*, unpub op at 6. 894a. Dispensing with one of the four main pillars of confrontation was a “necessity” because “[t]he expert witness was testifying from Salt Lake City, Utah, regarding his findings from the victim’s rape kit. It would have been costly and difficult for the expert witness to appear in person at trial.” *Jemison*, unpub op at 5. 893a.

It cannot be, and has never been the rule, that a defendant's confrontation right can be thrown aside because of money or convenience sake. Such a rule would be against the holding in *Craig* and grossly out of line with other states and the federal circuits.

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