**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT**

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

Supreme Ct. No: 157812

vs

ARTHUR JEMISON,

Defendant-Appellant.

Wayne Circuit No. 15-10216-01
Court of Appeals No. 334024

**PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S
SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF ON APPEAL**

KYM L. WORTHY
Prosecuting Attorney
County of Wayne

JASON W. WILLIAMS
Chief of Research,
Training and Appeals

AMY M. SOMERS (P65223)
Assistant Prosecuting Attorney, Appeals
1441 St. Antoine, Suite 1106
Detroit, Michigan 48226
Phone: (313) 224-8109

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

(a) The admission of two-way video testimony was necessary to further an important public policy interest.

This Court should interpret *Craig* broadly, where, as here, the government has a significant public policy interest in seeing that justice is done for thousands of victims of cold-case sexual assault cases whose rape kits were abandoned in a storage warehouse and sat untested for years. In *White v Maryland*, the Maryland Court of Appeals held, under *Craig*, that a two-way video testimony of a forensic serologist furthered the important public policy of solving cold-case sexual assault

⁹⁵*Id* at 6-7 (894a-895a).

cases.⁹⁶ Here, Maggert testified that over eleven thousand rape kits had been discovered in the city of Detroit and that the Michigan State Police obtained a federal grant to be able to send out the kits for testing at private laboratories. She explained, “[W]e needed to find a way to get [the] kits processed and to do eleven thousand kits would absolutely drown us out at the laboratory.” 600a.

Requiring forensic analysts to travel from Utah in order to testify to an uncontested report would circumvent the entire rationale behind using outsourced laboratories in the first place. Flying an out-of-state expert witness to give neutral, uncontroverted testimony—that is foundational in nature and that has been subjected to verification by another expert—is not effective resource allocation, and defeats the purpose of having an outsourced lab perform the analyses in the first place. The magnitude and urgency of the rape kit backlog problem is a sufficient public policy justification for allowing neutral expert testimony via two-way video, where the technology allows both parties to view each other in real time.

Of course, an even simpler remedy can be found in Michigan’s notice-and-demand procedure. In *Bullcoming v New Mexico*, the United States Supreme Court observed, “notice-and-demand procedures, long in effect in many jurisdictions, can reduce burdens on forensic laboratories.”⁹⁷ The fact that Michigan has a notice-and-demand procedure in place to address this very issue shows that it is necessary as a matter of public policy.

⁹⁶*White v Maryland*, 223 Md App 353, 386-401 (2015) (although the witness was also ill, the Court agreed with the State that “permitting the two-way live video testimony in this case furthered the public policy of resolving cold cases and protecting the witness...We are persuaded that the combined public policy justifications of resolving cold cases and simultaneously protecting the physical well-being of a significant witness are sufficient under *Craig*.”).

⁹⁷*Bullcoming v New Mexico*, 564 US 647, 666 (2011).

(b) The reliability of the testimony was otherwise assured.

Defendant has not challenged the reliability of Cutler’s testimony. On appeal, defendant’s argument centers around the first prong under *Craig*—the necessity prong. In any event, Cutler’s testimony was reliable. His testimony was foundational in nature and his work was verified by Maggert. Any doubt about the accuracy of Cutler’s testimony was put to rest when Maggert testified as to the verification process. Cutler was not a “conventional” witness—he was not the victim, he did not perceive the crime as it was happening, and his testimony did not implicate defendant. Cutler was a “neutral” witness. He did not have any vested interest in defendant’s case, such that it would be crucial for the jury to see his demeanor up close and in court.

C. If there was a Confrontation Clause violation, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Confrontation Clause errors, including the denial of face-to-face confrontation, are subject to harmless error analysis.⁹⁸ The burden is on the beneficiary of the error to prove that there is no “reasonable possibility that the evidence complained of might have contributed to the conviction.”⁹⁹ Whether a Confrontation Clause error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt requires an assessment of several factors, including “the importance of the witness’s testimony to the prosecution’s case, whether the testimony is cumulative, the presence or absence of corroborating or contradictory testimony, and the overall strength of the prosecution’s case.”¹⁰⁰ In assessing harmless, it is not

⁹⁸*Shepherd, supra.*

⁹⁹*Chapman v California*, 386 US 18, 23 (1967), quoting *Fahy v State of Connecticut*, 375 US 85, 86-87 (1963).

¹⁰⁰*Michigan v Watson*, 245 Mich App 572, 585 (2001), quoting *Michigan v Kelly*, 231 Mich App 627, 645 (1998); see also *Delaware v Van Arsdall*, 475 US 673, 684 (1986); *United*

enough to consider whether a witness's testimony would have been unchanged if there had been confrontation. Rather, a determination of harmlessness must be "based on the remaining evidence."¹⁰¹ "[A]n otherwise valid conviction should not be set aside if the reviewing court may confidently say, on the whole record, that the constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt."¹⁰²

(1) The error did not contribute to the verdict.

Unlike in *Carter and Rogerson, supra*, if Cutler's testimony had not been taken by video, his report would have been admitted under MCR 6.202 without any testimony at all, and the outcome of defendant's trial would have been the same. The foundational DNA evidence that ultimately led to defendant's identification—Cutler's lab report—was admissible regardless of whether Cutler had testified by video. It became admissible when defendant failed to file an objection pursuant to the notice-and-demand rule. In fact, the prosecutor was not even planning to call Cutler, as evidenced by the fact that he was not even endorsed on her witness list. At the pretrial hearing on May 20, 2016, the prosecutor told the court that her intention was to admit all of the lab reports under MCR 6.202 and then call one analyst—Maggert—to explain what they meant along with her conclusions. As to Cutler, the prosecutor said, "The other analyst by the name of Derek Cutler from Sorenson Forensics is out of Utah, and if his testimony becomes necessary and - - *he's a witness on my list but he's not endorsed. So, if his testimony becomes necessary, I would then have him available by video.*" 109a.

States v Carter, 907 F3d 1199, 1210 (CA 9, 2018).

¹⁰¹*Coy v Iowa*, 487 US 1012, 1021-1022 (1988).

¹⁰²*Van Arsdall, supra*, at 681.

It was the defense that wanted to cross-examine Cutler,¹⁰³ and that was why the prosecutor offered to have him testify via video. 109a. But, because the time for defendant to request the live presence of the witness had long since passed, the prosecutor had not even endorsed the witness. And she did not have to, because the analyst's report was "admissible in evidence to the same effect as if [the analyst] had personally testified."¹⁰⁴ Assuming that Cutler's testimony had been taken out of the picture altogether, the prosecutor would have lost nothing. The testimony was cumulative to his report. It was defendant who benefitted by having Cutler on video, because he got to cross-examine him.

(2) All of the other requirements for confrontation remained intact.

Cutler's testimony was under oath, his testimony was subject to cross-examination, and the jury was able to observe his demeanor. As to the face-to-face requirement, defendant and Cutler *were* able to see each other face-to-face—albeit electronically over two-way video. The error was limited to Cutler not being physically present in the courtroom. This type of confrontation error is of a different category than the erroneous admission of testimonial hearsay, where *none* of the confrontation requirements are present—no face-to-face confrontation, no oath, no cross-examination, and no opportunity for the jury to view the declarant's demeanor. The error here, then, was not in the *admission* of Cutler's testimony, but in the fact that he was not physically present *in the courtroom*. The nature of the confrontation error needs to be taken into account when assessing harmlessness—they are not all the same.

¹⁰³Defendant's trial counsel said at the hearing that he would not stipulate to video testimony, particularly for an expert witness, because Cutler may have to look at reports and physical evidence in order to explain them during his testimony. 5/20, 13.

¹⁰⁴MCR 6.202.

(3) The reliability of the testimony was not in question.

As a purely foundational expert witness, Cutler's testimony falls into the category of "neutral scientific" testimony. Cutler's testimony was also corroborated and verified by Maggert. Maggert was the analyst who actually entered the DNA profile into the CODIS database, and later compared the DNA profile to defendant's buccal swab. It was Maggert, not Cutler, who offered her conclusion that defendant's DNA was present on the victim's vaginal swab and genital gauze samples. 622a-642a. There could be no doubt as to the reliability of Cutler's testimony, because all he did was develop an unknown male DNA profile. It was Maggert who determined that the profile matched defendant's own DNA. Defendant was not accused immediately based on the CODIS hit that resulted from the Sorenson sample. Defendant was only identified after Maggert compared his buccal swab to the Sorenson profile, which served as a check against Cutler's work.

Unlike in *Carter, supra*, Cutler was not a victim witness. Although expert testimony is still subject to confrontation requirements, the *type* of witness that Cutler was ought to be considered when assessing harmlessness. Cutler—unlike a fact witness or victim (the so-called "conventional" witnesses)—had no reason to lie, and no reason to be afraid to face defendant. Most of the time, the Confrontation Clause is concerned with the admission of testimonial hearsay without *any* opportunity for cross-examination.¹⁰⁵ In that instance, none of the four requirements for confrontation are satisfied. There is no face-to-face meeting, no testimony under oath at trial, no cross-examination at trial, and no opportunity for the trier of fact to observe the witness's demeanor. That situation is inherently different than what occurred here, where all of the four confrontation

¹⁰⁵*Crawford, supra*, at 53.

requirements remained intact—including the face-to-face requirement—albeit not face-to-face in the courtroom.

(4) Defendant never contested the DNA evidence.

Consent, not identity, was a consistent theme presented by the defense during defendant’s trial. Trial counsel argued at a pretrial hearing that the nature of the victim’s relationship was “who knew who when and what the relationship was is what this case is all about.” 60a. Counsel also argued, in both opening and closing, that defendant’s DNA was in the victim’s rape kit because they may have had a consensual sexual encounter. 325a; 797a-799a. Counsel did argue that the minor DNA profile may have been attributable to the actual rapist, but he did so while also acknowledging the presence of defendant’s DNA in the victim’s rape kit. 795a-799a.

Appellate counsel argues that defendant’s trial counsel only argued consent once he knew that the DNA evidence was coming in. But that can not be the case, because counsel was put on notice well before trial that the lab reports were coming in under MCR 6.202, and he never objected. At trial, counsel never challenged Cutler’s findings, which only established that there was male DNA in the victim’s rape kit. Counsel’s cross-examination of Cutler was extremely brief, and it established that Cutler was merely reporting on the work of other analysts and that he could testify to the existence of a male DNA profile, but could not offer a conclusion as to the identity of the DNA donor(s). 728a. Trial counsel’s entire cross-examination of Cutler only occupied three pages of the trial transcript, and aside from his qualifications as an expert, the testimony went unchallenged.¹⁰⁶ 727a-730a.

¹⁰⁶The defense did also ask questions pertaining to Cutler’s expert qualifications during voir dire, and objected to him being qualified as an expert. (712a-715a).

Even if this Court finds constitutional error, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In *Idaho v Woods*, the Idaho Court of Appeals applied *Craig* to determine whether the defendant's confrontation rights were violated when the lower court allowed an expert witness to testify via a two-way video procedure. The witness's testimony served to lay a foundation for the admission of data that was retrieved from the defendant's cell phone. At the time, Idaho had not yet applied *Craig* in a case involving two-way video. The lower court declined to apply *Craig* in a two-way video scenario, and allowed the testimony, citing the foundational nature of the witness's testimony as well as time and cost considerations.

The Idaho Court of Appeals, applying *Craig*, found that the government had not made a sufficient showing of necessity where the reason given was "physical and logistical problems of transporting the expert cross-country." Still, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The Court of Appeals found that there was sufficient evidence on the record as a whole to support the defendant's conviction even without the tainted testimony, and that the testimony was cumulative to other properly admitted evidence.¹⁰⁷

Here, as in *Woods*, Cutler was a neutral, foundational witness. His testimony was cumulative to his report, which was already deemed admissible under MCR 6.202. Defendant never challenged Cutler's conclusions, which were checked for accuracy and corroborated by Maggert. Even without Cutler's testimony, the outcome of defendant's trial would have been the same. The error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

¹⁰⁷*Idaho v Woods*, 165 Idaho 329, 903-906 (2019).

D. Conclusion

Defendant is correct that MCR 6.006 was violated, as he did not consent to allow Cutler to testify via video. But the alternative would have been for the prosecutor to simply admit Cutler's report into evidence, without any testimony. As it was, defendant got to cross-examine Cutler, which was more than he was entitled to. MCR 6.006 and MCR 6.202 need to be looked at together—not in isolation. Every other state that has addressed this situation has found waiver. But even if the issue is not deemed waived, defendant's confrontation right was not violated.

Whether this Court applies *Craig* or not, there needs to be a balancing test to weigh the impact on the defendant from the loss of face-to-face confrontation versus the hardship on the prosecution witness and the significance of the government's interest in securing the testimony remotely. Where the cost to the defendant is greatest, such as where the defendant would lose *all* ability to view a *victim* witness's demeanor through the use of telephonic or one-way video, then the prosecution should have to meet a higher threshold to justify the use of those procedures. In a case like *Craig*, where the witness testifying remotely is the actual victim and where the procedure being used would not allow for the witness to look at the defendant while testifying, cost and convenience would not—and should not—be enough to outweigh the defendant's confrontation right.

But where, as here, the witness is a neutral, scientific witness—whose testimony is uncontested, cumulative, corroborated, and foundational—and where the procedure being employed allows both the witness and the defendant to view each other remotely, then cost and convenience are reason enough to justify allowing the procedure. The government's policy interest in expediting the testimony of neutral lab witnesses, who would otherwise be taken away from testing evidence to fly to an out-of-state trial, can outweigh the defendant's right to in-court, face-to-face

confrontation. Where the witness has no reason to lie and the defendant is able to view and cross-examine him virtually, the disruption to the defendant's confrontation right is minimal and the balancing test weighs in favor of the prosecution. This is particularly true where, as here, this Court has put a procedure in place to address these types of cost and convenience concerns—MCR 6.202—and that procedure was followed.

Lastly, even if this Court finds error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because all of the other protections remained intact, the testimony was reliable, and—most importantly—Cutler's report would have come into evidence anyway and the outcome of defendant's trial would have been the same. To hold otherwise would allow defendants to change their mind in the middle of trial—after having waived a witness's testimony—and would force the prosecution to fly witnesses to court on a moment's notice. To create such a rule would be contrary to *Melendez-Diaz*, and to this Court's rationale in adopting MCR 6.202.

RELIEF

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